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Philipse Manor Hall, 1876, from Harper's New Monthly Magazine.
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Foreword

The State of New York is engaged today in a com-
prehensive program for statewide historic resource
management through the Division for Historic Preserva-
tion of the Office of Parks and Recreation. Although the
program is manifested in many ways, a principal focus ison
renewal of its State historic site system, the oldest in the
United States.

One of the historic structures that is being restored
and is again open to the public is Philipse Manor Hall.
Purchased in 1908 after it had served for many years as the
first city hall of Yonkers, the building was originally ad-
ministered by the American Scenic and Historic Preserva-
tion Society. When the Office of Parks and Recreation was
established in 1972, administration of the site was vested in
its Taconic Regional Office, one of eleven park regions in
the state.

[t is the Division for Historic Preservation in the Of-
fice of Parks and Recreation, however, which bears the
responsibility for professional development of the State
historic site system. To accomplish this it has brought
together specialists in historic preservation — ad-
ministrators, interpreters, historians, restoration
architects, archeologists, architectural historians, conser-
vators, landscape architects, museum designers — whose
joint efforts assure that historical truth, as far as that can
be ascertained, is presented to the constantly growing
visiting public.

History, is after all, inquiry, and one of the missions of
preservationists is to assure that historical knowledge will
crystallize as understanding. At our historic sites we are
seeking to inspire a new recognition not only of our
ancestors and their buildings and the events in which they
took a part but also the concepts, the relationships, and the
ideas that marked the greatness of our nation.

Often the latter can be seen only in counterpoint and
this, it seems to me, is what lies at the heart of Stefan
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Bielinski’s booklet, An American Loyalist: The Ordeal of Frederick
Philipse I11. At such State historic sites as Washinton’s Head-
quarters, Knox Headquarters and New Windsor Canton-
ment, Senate House, Clermont, Schuyler Mansion,
Herkimer House, and Oriskany Battlefield, one comes to
understand how and why the American patriots fought. At
Philipse Manor Hall, however, one can view the
Revolutionary period through the eyes of an individual
who remained loyal to King George III. This booklet helps
to give a clearer picture of the background and the forces
that, for some, led to a world turned upside down.

Under the Parks and Recreation Law, the State Educa-
tion Department was directed to work with the Com-
missioner of Parks and Recreation in the field of historic
preservation. This booklet is one of the cooperative efforts
between the two State agencies and we are grateful to
Steftan Bielinski of the Division of Historical Services for
his original research that will help us to interpret more
clearly Philipse Manor Hall State Historic Site. We look
forward to future publications of a similar nature.

FaL-Rath, Je

Deputy Commissioner for Historic
Preservation

Vi



Introduction

On the eve of independence, perhaps almost half of
the 200,000 people living in the royal province of New York
considered themselves subjects of the king and members of
the British empire. In the years immediately following
adoption of the Declaration of Independence by the fourth
New York Provincial Congress on July 9, 1776, most of
that large minority eventually chose to repudiate the
American crusade for liberties, to remain loyal to George
[lI, and, in many instances, to take up arms against their
former friends and neighbors. Although New York ranked
no higher than seventh in total population among the
American colonies, it had both the largest number and
highest percentage of Loyalists. New York supplied more
men for the British armed forces during the Revolution
and had more post-war applicants for compensation as
loyal sufferers of the crown than did any other colony.
With an important part of the state under British military
control, and with New York City the center of British
operations in America from mid-1776 until the end of the
war, nowhere was the loyalist persuasion stronger or more
apparent than in New York.1

The keynote of Loyalism in New York was its diversi-
ty. Loyalist New Yorkers inhabited every part of the
province, although they seem to have been concentrated in
New York City, on Long Island, and in Westchester
County—the southern part of the colony, which, not coin-
cidentally, was occupied by the British army from the
summer of 1776 until late in 1783. Loyalism in New York
transcended racial, ethnic, religious, social, and economic
bounds as outstanding Loyalists were drawn from every
segment of colonial society. Many prominent New York
families were divided on the question of independence, and
even the most stalwart of patriot households, such as the
Livingstons, Morrises, Herkimers, and Schuylers, had
Tory members.2



What made one man a Loyalist and another a
revolutionary has been difficult to ascertain. However,
simplistic explanations resting solely on economic or
ideological determinants are unconvincing or, at least, un-
fulfilling. Individual loyalist mentalities were far more
complex with intellectual, moral, economic and expedien-
tial considerations contributing, often over a period of
time, to the total, loyalist personality. One’s conviction to
remain loyal to the king was, therefore, personal and in-
dividual. The fact that Loyalism in New York was so
widespread and perhaps even predominant has prompted
scholars to search for so-called common denominators and
to attempt to explain Loyalism through group analysis.
Alexander C. Flick’s characterization of New York’s
Loyalists as essentially the colony’s wealthy commercial
classes, landed proprietors, professionals, Anglican clerics,
communicants of the Episcopacy, and conservative
farmers has so many important exceptions that his thesis is
no longer considered a valid generalization. John Jay, for
example, an Anglican, graduate of King’s College, wealthy
New York City attorney, and political conservative, was
foremost among New York’s revolutionary leadership,
although by Flick’s yardstick he should have remained loyal
to Great Britain.3

After Flick’s seminal study, Loyalism in New York Dur-
ing the American Revolution, which appeared in 1901,
succeeding generations of scholars have sought to deter-
mine whether there were less obvious common
denominators that separated the Loyalists from their
revolutionary counterparts. As a result of these group
studies, there exists today a much clearer idea of the
numbers, disposition, and collective activities of the
Loyalists in the American Revolution. But, because one’s
loyalty was based on complex determinants and was essen-
tially a personal state of mind, the common denominators
or formulas for Loyalists as a group have, by and large,
eluded the historian’s grasp. Perhaps the key to com-
prehending Loyalism is to understand the individual

Loyalists. Biographical profiles of individual Loyalists,
William Smith, Jr., Peter Van Schaack, James De Lancey,

Walter Butler, and John Tabor Kempe, to name only a few,
have greatly enhanced our understanding of the loyalist
persuasion in New York.4 More such studies are needed.




Frederick Philipse III was a fourth generation
American, last Lord of the Manor of Philipsburg in
Westchester County, member of the colonial Assembly,
and considered so dangerous a Tory that he was among
those condemned to death by New York State in 1779. His
career is worthy of examination not only because of his
elevated position in colonial society, but also because his
life and ordeal are representative of an entire segment of
the colonial elite who suffered because of the American
Revolution.

The Philipse family crest as it appears on a silver salver. This crest is also on the
memorial tablet to Frederick Philipse III.



, 1665-1750. Artist unknown. Museum of the City of New

Adolphe Philipse

York.



The Philipse Family in Colonial New York

On October 22, 1779, Frederick Philipse, third Lord of
the Manor of Philipsburg, was one of fifty-nine Loyalists
attainted of treason by the New York State Legislature.
For Philipse, this meant that his large estate in Westchester
County and all of his other earthly possessions were
forfeited to the state and that Philipse himself was con-
demned to death without trial if apprehended within the
borders of New York. The passage of the Act of Attainder
concluded a drama directly traceable to 1776 but one whose
roots extended deeply into the colonial period.

Every member of the Philipse family was of the loyalist
persuasion. Frederick’s eldest son, Frederick, Jr., his sisters,
Mary and Susannah, and his brothers-in-law, Roger
Morris and Beverly Robinson, were also condemned by
name in the Act of Attainder.5 Thus, all the adult members
of one of New York’s foremost families had been sentenced
to the harshest of punishments in their homeland. While
the price of loyalty to the crown was indeed high, the
Philipses” decision to remain loyal was by no means un-
predictable. It was instead a logical conclusion to more than
a century of successful life in New York which began with a
former Dutch West India Company carpenter named
Vrederic Felypsen.

Although arriving in the New World with only the
tools of ambition and intelligence, by 1674, Felypsen had
parlayed extensive interests in shipping, fur, and slave
trading into the largest fortune in the colony of New York.
After the English takeover ten years earlier, Felypsen had
had little trouble blending into the English scheme of
things—being perfectly willing to take the oath of
allegiance to Charles Il in return for the right to maintain
his various property titles. About that time, he anglicized
his name to Phillips or Philipse and, as Frederick Philipse,
he sought political preferment in the English provincial
government commensurate with his economic standing.
He was appointed an alderman in New York City in 1674.
In 1675, he became a member of the governor’s Council of
advisors, the highest honor a colonial could attain.

Political influence, economic resources which included
a large store of Indian trade goods, vaguely defined land
boundaries which permitted advantageous manipulation,



and two key marriages facilitated Philipse’s acquisition of
extensive acreage on both sides of the North or Hudson
River. On June 5, 1693, a Royal decree created his 90,000
acres in Westchester County the “Mannour of
Philipsborough,” and established its owner as Lord of the
Manor, delegating to him certain quasi-feudal rights and
privileges. Frederick Philipse was essentially a merchant
with mercantile liaisons extending to several continents,
but although he had acquired land for speculative pur-
poses, he also hoped to one day generate the flour, grain,
and other products which his own ships would then carry
to the worldwide marketplace.s

The two sons of Frederick Philipse and Margaret
Hardenbroeck would have inherited the Philipse fortune
upon their father’s death in 1702. However, Philip, the
elder son, and a merchant living in the West Indies,
possessed a weak constitution and died there in 1700.
Theretfore, Philip’s legacy was left to his son, Frederick 1I,
who was only seven years old when his grandfather died in
1702.

Adolph (1665-1750), the younger son of Frederick I,
his father’s business partner and a wealthy merchant, large
landholder, and powerful politician in his own right,
represented New York City in the colonial Assembly and
was a principal figure in its pro-British political faction for
almost fifty years. Adolph Philipse had inherited his
father’s faculty for integrating politics and economic ad-
vancement. As formidable a politician as anyone in the
colonies, his political and economic prowess was so obvious
that it prompted an adversary to observe that Adolph
Philipse was “the head” of the merchant party in New
York. He had inherited the 205,000 acre “Highland Patent”
in what was then Dutchess County, and also the northern
part of the Philipsburg Manor in Sleepy Hollow known as
“Castle Philipse.” Upon Adolph’s death without heirs in
1750, the entire Philipse estate would be reunited under
the control of Frederick Philipse I1.7

Frederick Philipse II succeeded to the title of Lord of
the Manor in 1716. Prior to that time he had received a
legal education in England which qualified him for subse-
quent appointments to the provincial judicial positions of
justice of the Court of the Exchequer and as Second Judge
of the New York Supreme Court. In 1735, he sat at the
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historic trial of New York City editor John Peter Zenger.
He also represented Westchester County in the provincial
Assembly from 1726 to 1751. Frederick II, known as “Judge
Philipse,” married Joanna, the daughter of former provin-
cial lieutenant governor Anthony Brockholls.8

Although proprietors of one of the largest estates in
the province, the Philipses elected to raise their ten
children in New York City. Their eldest son, Frederick III,
was born in 1720, heir apparent to the family legacy of
political, social, and economic leadership in the colony.
Tuberculosis had claimed Adolph’s life in 1750—his estate
reverting to Frederick II, whose death less than two years
later made Frederick Il Lord of the Manor at age 30.
However, by that time, Frederick III’s tastes and personal
inclinations already had become well defined. He seems to
have had little professional interest in either the mercan-
tile, political, orlegal endeavors of his forebears and was in-
stead inclined toward the aesthetic and toward the land.

Rather thanresiding at his father’s town house in New
York, Frederick IIl moved into the family’s summer retreat,
the “Manor Hall,” located at the mouth of the N epperhan
or Saw Mill River in present-day Yonkers. Construction of
this impressive mansion was begun by the first Frederick
Philipse in the early 1680s with new wings and other im-
provements added throughout the first half of the
eighteenth century. Located in the heart of the southern
part of Philipse Manor, the Manor Hall was a perfect base
from which Frederick III could attend to his principal ambi-
tion of administering his estate, called Philipsburg, as it
never had been done before.

A man of refined tastes, the third Lord of the Manor
was determined to make the Manor Hall a showcase of
English gentility. Philipse enlarged the building, added
lavish interior embellishments such as ornate woodwork
and the plaster ceiling in the downstairs living room, and
maintained an extremely large household which included
gardeners imported from Europe to beautify the landscape.
Philipse was quite interested in landscape gardening, cer-
tainly a proper pastime for a gentleman of that era. He add-
ed trees, plants, ornaments, and also a picket-fenced deer
park which was located between the garden and the river.
The Manor Hall’s formal gardens were notable in their day.
The transformation effected under the auspices of
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Frederick Philipse III did indeed make the estate a mirror of
English manorial living and, as one observer wrote, the
“hospitable center of all that was best in the life of the
province.”

Philipse’s concern for his holdings was by no means
restricted to the elegant Manor Hall. Frederick III was the
head of one of New York’s foremost landholding families.
His sisters had inherited extensive lands in Dutchess and
Orange counties but Frederick’s Westchester estate was by
far the most highly developed and the most prosperous. As
the population of colonial New York began to increase
significantly during the second and third quarters of the
eighteenth century, the Philipse farmland in Westchester
County became increasingly valuable because of its prox-
imity to the Hudson River and to the commercial outlet of
New York City. Especially after 1751, an increasing
number of farmers from New England and abroad applied
to Frederick Philipse III for tenancy leases. Their attraction
to Philipse Manor was due to far more than simply its
choice location. Frederick III had quickly acquired the
reputation of being a fair and easy-going landlord.
Although they were absentees, the first two Lords of the
Manor generally had treated their leaseholders decently
and Frederick III was not inclined to break a sixty-year old
family tradition that had been largely responsible for the
uncommon loyalty of Philipse tenants. The format he used
most frequently was a life-time, low rent, verbal lease,
although he did occasionally sell a farm. Philipse’s tenants
were generally contented—usually staying for
generations, abiding by the terms of their leases, and
sometimes making improvements on the land with money
borrowed from the manor lord himself. In fact, Philipse
seems to have made a large number of loans between 1751
and 1776. Exemplary of the amiable conditions on
Philipsburg Manor is the fact that during the tenant up-
risings of 1766, Philipse’s Westchester tenantry did not
revolt, while a major part of the rioting took place on other
manors and especially on the Dutchess County “Philipse
Highlands Patent” belonging to Frederick’s sisters.10

Administered for the first time by a full-time Lord of
the Manor, Philipsburg prospered and even flourished in
the third quarter of the eighteenth century under the



even-tempered and benevolent leadership of Frederick
Philipse, III. Even though land in other parts of the
province was opened to settlers after the threat of French
attack from Canada ended in 1763, Philipse continued to
attract new tenants and was able to retain his old ones
through the end of the colonial period.

In 1756, Philipse had married Elizabeth Williams, the
widow of Anthony Rutgers, thus providing himself with a
mate who shared his penchant for beauty, fashion, and dis-
play, and one who also could occasionally prod the usually
indolent manor lord into action.

Supported by a large number of tenants who were his
dependents in every sense of the word, Frederick Philipse
[IT had built his estate into an American model of English
gentility. He entertained frequently and lavishly for the
colonial elite but also substantially improved the everyday
lives of his leaseholders. Philipse operated saw and grist
mills that transformed the fruits of his tenants’ labors into
marketable commodities, encouraged artisans to settle on
his estate, operated several mines, and erected St. John’s
Episcopal Church in Yonkers in 1752, donating a glebe and
contracting a minister to tend to the spiritual well-being of
his people.11

11
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The Road to Loyalism

On the eve of the American Revolution, Philipse
Manor extended for about twenty-four miles along the
east bank of the Hudson from the Croton River south to
Spuyten Duyvil Creek and included the northern part of
New York City, today’s city of Yonkers, and the
Westchester County towns of Greenburgh, Mount Plea-
sant, and Ossining.

By virtue of such substantial holdings, the manor lord
was looked to for leadership in provincial affairs. Judge
Philipse, for example, had represented Westchester Coun-
ty in the New York Assembly for twenty-five years, and,
upon his death in 1751, his seat was filled by his son,
Frederick III, the third Lord of the Manor. In deference to
his wealth and position, Frederick III (also called “Colonel”
because of an unexercised commission he held in the
colonial militia), was elected to the colonial Assembly five
times and served until that body adjourned for the last time
in the spring of 1775.

His birthright had entitled Frederick to positions of
leadership and responsibility in New York’s colonial
government, but the rotund and usually lethargic manor
lord was only incidentally interested in politics and attend-
ed the Assembly sessions irregularly. Consequently, he
was appointed to trivial and more or less honorary com-
mittees such as the one to consider the governor’s address
or to draft bills continuing laws already in force. Until the
1770s, Philipse was conspicuously absent from critical
committees on finance, defense, and diplomatic relations
with the mother country. That he commanded a certain
amount of respect without inspiring a great deal of per-
sonal confidence also might be inferred from the fact that
he was often called on to make committee reports to the
House and to preside over committees of the whole in the
absence of the Assembly speaker. Such considerations paid
tribute to the Philipse name. But by consistently excluding
him from important projects and committees, the
Assembly leadership expressed its skepticism, if not its real
doubt, as to Frederick IIlI’s own abilities.12

The decade before the signing of the Declaration of In-
dependence witnessed the polarization of New York’s
political factions: the supporters of the royal prerogative,

13
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and their opponents who thought New York should exer-
cise control of its internal affairs. Perhaps the only thing
more consistent than the frequency with which Frederick
Philipse had been overlooked in the selection of critical
committees was his almost perfect record of voting with
the supporters of the royalist administration. James De
Lancey, Jr., one of the leading partisans of that faction,
later testified to Philipse’s support of the royal prerogative
by stating that Colonel Philipse “always voted with the
party who favored the Measures of Government.”

By his own admission, Philipse claimed that “he un-
iformly opposed every measure . . . inconsistent with the
rights of the crown and parliament.” Philipse’s voting
record and the nature of the legislation which he in-
frequently chose to introduce in the assembly clearly iden-
tify him as a royal adherent from the early 1760s. For ex-
ample, in November 1763, he presented the government
support bill, an honor generally reserved for firm friends of
the royal government. In January 1770, he voted against a
proposed ballot bill that future revolutionaries almost un-
animously supported and that future Loyalists opposed. In
1773 and 1774, Philipse served on Assembly committees to
raise money to quarter a standing British army in the
province. By that time, only an ardent supporter of the
British ministry would have seriously exerted himself for
such a purpose.13

During the final years of New York’s colonial era, the
pro-administration Assembly leadership began to call on
Frederick Philipse for support. For him, the decision to sup-
port the royal government had not been difficult because
he had good reason to believe that his own best interests
and those of the king were coincidental. Although not the
most perceptive of individuals, Frederick Philipse III was
well aware that the privileged position this descendant of a
once-lowly Dutch carpenter held in colonial society had
resulted more from the abundant opportunities available
under the British colonial system than from anything else.
To have expected Philipse to have been less than a staunch
supporter of the crown would have been expecting him to
be less than self-interested. And, Frederick Philipse had
always been self-interested.



The Revolution Comes to Frederick Philipse

In the years immediately preceding the outbreak of
violence, Frederick Philipse probably did not comprehend
the increasing seriousness of the disagreement between
the king and his American subjects. Certainly he never
considered that one day soon he would have to choose
between royalism and revolution. In fact, he occasionally
appeared to be oblivious to the important issues and events
which surrounded and later enveloped him. On the eve of
the passage of the Tea Act in 1773, Colonel Philipse in-
terrupted the Assembly proceedings to introduce a bill “to
prevent the killing and destroying of partridges and quails
on the manor of Philipsborough.” This inconsequential and
ill-timed intrusion was the epitome of his inability to un-
derstand the more portentous issues at stake during his
twenty-five year Assembly career.14

Although he preferred to concentrate on the develop-
ment of his estate and on religious and social affairs, by the
1770s, Frederick Philipse found himself beginning to play a
more active if somewhat uninspired part in the provincial
government of New York. Philipse’s claim that he
“possessed a considerable share of influence” is justified,
for his position made him one of the most influential men
in Westchester County. Therefore, it is not surprising that
Philipse was selected to preside over the county-wide
caucus that assembled in White Plains on August 22,1774.
This ad hoc gathering had been convened by request of the
New York City Committee of Correspondence to consider
the question of whether or not to send delegates to a“con-
tinental congress” to be held in Philadelphia during
September. Philipse attended, but his contribution to the
White Plains meeting remains unclear. However, after
some debate, the county convention did authorize Isaac
Low, Philip Livingston, James Duane, John Alsop, and John
Jay, the delegates from New York City, to represent
Westchester as well.15

Frederick Philipse’s personal sentiments on the

American Revolution have long been debated. Assertions
run the gamut from the claim that he was one of the “prin-

cipal loyalist leaders” in the New York Assembly, to the
statement that he was “not hostile to the new govern-
ment;” from “absolutely nothing against him except the

15
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conjecture that he preferred the triumph of England,” to
“at the commencement of the Revolution, he inclined to
the side of the Whigs, but was afterward persuaded to
favor the Tories.”16 In truth, however, his loyalty to the
crown was never in doubt. He was both a royalist and an
aristocrat. His principal concerns were not of ethics or
ideology, for on both counts his very nature had precluded
his support of the Revolution.

The Philipse family fortune was founded on and nur-
tured by the British colonial system and, like most other
colonial land and office holders, the Philipses had helped
shape provincial society within the framework of the
British empire. The third Lord of Philipsburg Manor had
patterned his personal life style after that of the English
gentry and was preoccupied with implementing the
English manorial system in the Hudson Valley under the
aegis of the royal government. As an individual with a sub-
stantial stake in the necessity for the continuance of the ex-
isting system, Frederick Philipse could have been expected
to look with alarm upon the activities of certain “rowdy
bands” masquerading under the banners of “Sons of Liber-
ty” who pillaged private property during the Stamp Act
riots in 1765; clashed with British soldiers on Golden Hill in
1770; dumped tea in New York harbor in 1774; and most
recently, took the lead in the selection of delegates to a
general congress to protest the latest set of British restric-
tions.

The New York General Assembly did not take part in
the selection of those delegates and thus could be expected
to ignore the resolutions of the First Continental Con-
gress. However, in January 1775, Abraham Ten Broeck of
Albany surprised his Assembly colleagues by moving to
consider the Philadelphia resolves. Frederick Philipse in-
terrupted, questioning whether it was proper for such a
motion to be introduced at all. Philipse’s point of order led
to a vote by which the Assembly decided 11 to 10 not to
consider the proceedings of the Continental Congress.1”

Unlike some of the other New York Tories, Colonel
Philipse was opposed to the coercive measures directed
against the colony of Massachusetts as punishment for the
Boston Tea Party. But like many New Yorkers who would
soon become revolutionaries, he preferred more peaceful
and constitutionally correct means of redressing American



grievances. On April 4, 1775, Philipse and twelve other
Assemblymen (most of whom became Loyalists), were
chosen as a committee to obtain intelligence of parliamen-
tary legislation relating to America and to maintain a cor-
respondence with the governments of the other colonies.
As could be expected, that committee communicated only
with the official organs of government—within the im-
perial system—excluding altogether any assistance from
the “Sons of Liberty” who had taken it upon themselves to
defend American rights in the face of what they claimed
was ministerial oppression. This Assembly group was, in
effect, a “Tory Committee of Correspondence.”18

Like most royal adherents, Philipse was shocked and
appalled by the bloodshed that had taken place in the
Massachusetts towns of Lexington and Concord. On May
5, 1775, he joined thirteen loyal members of the Assembly
in a petition to General Thomas Gage, the military gover-
nor and British Commander in Chief in Boston. Lamenting
the “unhappy occurrence of violence in Massachusetts,”
they asked Gage to cease further hostilities until the king
could be apprised of the American situation and assured of
the loyalty of his American subjects. What these
petitioners feared was that a standing British army would
be sent to New York. Philipse and the others sincerely
believed that George III would “permit a negotiation to
take place[,]. . .prevent the further effusion of blood, and
open a door for a lasting accommodation of present dis-
putes.” However, their confidence in the king was misplac-
ed and redcoats were soon quartered on Manhattan.19

On March 28, 1775, a large number of Westchester
County freeholders assembled at White Plains to select
representatives to a provincial convention which, in turn,
would choose New York delegates to the Second Con-
tinental Congress then scheduled for May. However, a se-
cond group arrived on the scene headed by Frederick
Philipse and his assembly colleague, Isaac Wilkins. Com-
posed largely of Philipsburg tenants, this group took ex-
ception to the selection of representatives, standing behind
Wilkins’s statement to “not join in the business of the day
or have anything to do with Deputies or Congresses,” and
saying that they came there “for the sole purpose of pro-
testing such illegal and unconstitutional proceedings.”
Having made clear their position, Wilkins and Philipse then

17
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led their charges away from the county caucus. Before
summer, Isaac Wilkins had boarded a ship bound for
England never to return. But for Frederick Philipse, whose
life and livelihood were centered in Westchester County,
there was no escape.20

On that March day, Philipse had been a central tigure
in a public display of loyalty to the crown. He later said that
his only reason for appearing at the meeting was to be on
record as opposed to what Wilkins had termed the “illegal
and unconstitutional proceedings.” However, his detrac-
tors spread rumors that the manor lord’s allegiance had
been bought with gold. About that time, Samuel Adams,
the Massachusetts patriot leader, was publicizing a letter
he had received from London revealing that the British
ministry “now openly boast of their having last year sent
large sums to New York to bribe members of the assembly
and the names of De Lancey, Phillips and Rappalje are tre-
quently mentioned as having each . . . received 1,000
guineas for their conduct in the Assembly respecting the
late Continental Congress and for refusing to send
delegates to the May Congress.” But that was unlikely and
also unnecessary because it was well known that the
Philipse family loyalty had been developed over the past
hundred years.2!

When the colonial Assembly adjourned for the last
time in April of 1775, Frederick Philipse returned to the
Manor Hall and to the management of his estate. His at-
tachment to the crown was well known and his presence in
an area inhabited by a large number of patriots, as well as
Tories, could be expected to cause some problems. Philipse
did not help his own cause in the factious land of
Westchester County when he allowed his name to head a
long list of Westchester inhabitants who professed their
support of the “King and Constitution” in an advertise-
ment appearing in James Rivington’s New-York Gazetteer on
April 20. Apparently the manor lord did not comprehend
what was to come.22

The news of bloodshed at Lexington and Concord and
of the organization of an extra-legal Provincial Congress in
New York had disturbed Philipse. Even more disconcerting
were the activities of the members of the Westchester
County Committee of Safety which had placed his name at
the top of a list of “Westchester County Tories” they had



prepared late in 1775. By the end of the year, many loyalist
New Yorkers, including Wilkins and Roger Morris, had
already left the country. The Reverend Samuel Seabury,
author of the pro-British “Westchester Farmer” letters,
had been seized by Isaac Sears and his rebel band and had
been imprisoned in Connecticut. Sears was also responsi-
ble for the destruction of Rivington’s New York City press
and print shop. Royal officials like Abraham C. Cuyler,
mayor of Albany, and Philip Skene, lieutenant governor of
Crown Point and Ticonderoga, had been arrested and were
confined in Connecticut as dangerous royal adherents.
Governor William Tryon and his Council had fled the city
and were attempting to govern the province from the safe-
ty of a British warship in New York harbor.

In the midst of such turmoil, Frederick Philipse was
attending to the operation of his estate, collecting rents,
making loans, and engaging new tenants much as he did in
days gone by. Philipse had apparently resolved to go about
his business, not to antagonize the rebels, and to wait for a
reconciliation with the mother country. At least for
Frederick Philipse, 1775 passed without incident.23
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entleman of the Philipse Family, believed to be Erederick Philipse 111, by John
ollaston. Courtesy of The New-York Historical Socie

Signature of Frederick Philipse 111, private collection.



A Prisoner in His Native Land

The events of the beginning of 1776 brought about a
crystallization of positions on both sides of the Anglo-
American disputes. Whig polemicists like Thomas Paine
had begun to point out the advantages of separation from
Great Britain and the whispered word on the lips of every
patriot leader was independence. The British army had left
Boston and most Americans were convinced that it was
only a matter of time until the king’s troops would return
to invade New York. Patriot military units on the local,
county, and provincial levels were mobilized for action.

It was in this climate of stress and turbulence that
Frederick Philipse assembled a large number of his tenants
in the spring of 1776 and implored them to “preserve the
peace and to support the legal government.” Until then,
Philipse had managed to avoid the wrath of the various
rebel organizations. But by this assembly of his tenants,
Philipse left himself open to charges that, in addition to be-
ing well-known and personally “inimical to the liberties of
America,” he was also disaffecting the large number of in-
habitants who were his tenants.24

He subsequently came under the scrutiny of the
newly-created Committee on Conspiracies of the New
York Provincial Congress. Its purpose was to summon and
examine those who were suspected of being enemies of
American liberties. On June 15, 1776, the Committee
published its “List of Suspected Persons.” Twenty-one
Westchester County Tories were named, including
Frederick Philipse who was ordered to be summoned and
arrested. A subpoena was sent to Philipse on June 27. That
directive commanding him to appear before the committee
in New York City on July 3 at 10:00 in the morning reached
him at the Manor Hall on Saturday evening, June 29.
Philipse pondered the order, and on July 2, penned the
following reply:

Gentlemen—I was served on Saturday evening
last with a paper signed by you, in which you
suggest that you are authorized by the Congress
to summon certain persons to appear before you
whose conduct had been represented as inimical
to the rights of America, of which number, you
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say I am one. Who it is that has made such a
representation, or upon what particular facts it is
founded, (as you have not stated them) it is im-
possible for me to imagine. But considering my
situation, and the near and intimate ties and con-
nections which I have in this country, which can
be secured and rendered happy to me only by the
real and permanent prosperity of America, I
should have hoped that suspicions of this nature
would not be easily harboured. However, as they
have been thought of weight sufficient to attract
the notice of the Congress, I can only observe,
that conscious of the uprightness of my inten-
tions and the integrity of my conduct, I would
most readily comply with your summons, but the
situation of my health is such, as would render it
very unadvisable for me to take a journey to New
York at this time. I have had the misfortune,
gentlemen, of being deprived totally of the sight
of my left eye, and the other is so much affected
and inflamed as to make me very cautious how I
expose it, for fear of a total loss of sight. This be-
ing my real situation, I must request the favour of
you to excuse my attendance tomorrow; but you
may rest assured gentlemen, that I shall punctual-
ly attend, as soon as I can consistent with health,
flattering myself in the meantime, that upon
further consideration, you will think that my be-
ing a friend to the rights and interests of my
native country is a fact so strongly implied, as to
require no evidence on my part to prove it, until
something more substantial than mere suspicion
or vague surmises are proved to the contrary.25

Even if Philipse had traveled to New York City on July
3, he would have found no committee there to receive him.
In immediate expectation of a British invasion, on June 30
the Provincial Congress had resolved to move to White
Plains, but it did not re-convene there until July 9.
However, Philipse did agree to appear at a later date
although a severe visual handicap combined with his ex-
traordinary obesity would appear to have all but confined
him to the Manor Hall.2¢



Adoption of the Declaration of Independence had
turned rebellion into revolution and the appearance of the
large British invasion fleet and army in New York harbor
made it absolutely clear that this was a full scale war. The
summer of 1776 also marked the beginning of a three-year
campaign by the revolutionary leadership of New York
State toidentify, separate, and then expel those who would
not support the new order. Even those who sought to re-
main neutral were eventually singled out. A man of well-
known pro-royalist sentiments, Frederick Philipse was
among those branded as “disaffected,” although his con-
tinued residence in Westchester County represented only
the slightest threat to the American cause. Nevertheless,
on August 9, 1776, the manor lord was arrested at his
home on orders of George Washington. He was taken to
New Rochelle where he was held “under guard” for eleven
days. While in confinement he wrote a series of letters to
his wife.

On August 14, he sent Elizabeth Philipse a tender note
expressing his love and cautioning their children “not to
oppen their lipps about the times” because the Continental
soldiers then encamped on the estate might be listening.
He instructed Elizabeth to write any “news. . .[on the]In-
side of the Cover of Your letters not with ink but the Juice
of aLemon.” Shortly thereafter Philipse was transferred to
New Haven in Connecticut, a place to which many New
York Loyalists had been exiled. Philipse had arrived there
by August 22 when he wrote that he was well and that,
even after an exacting interrogation by his captors, he was
confident that he had “done nothing Inimical to the Liber-
ty’s of My Country.” Evidently, Philipse was unaware that
at almost the same moment he was being branded as a
traitor before a special sub-committee of the Convention
of Representatives of the State of New York.27

Philipse was upset over his arrest and confinement un-
der guard without specific charges or a hearing and sought
to discuss the matter with Governor Jonathan Trumbull of
Connecticut. Shortly thereafter, on August 28, Trumbull
allowed Philipse to sign a parole. By the terms of this agree-
ment with the state of Connecticut, Philipse was permitted
freedom of movement within the town borders of
Middletown, Durham, and Wethersfield in return for his
promise not to correspond with the enemies of the
American states.
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Abiding by those terms, Philipse continued in that
situation until November 29. Longing for home and family,
on that day he drafted a petition to the New York State
Convention. His memorial recounted the particulars of his
seizure and confinement and begged that he be permitted
to return home in order to tend to the “superintendency of
his own affairs, particularly the education of his children.”
A sub-committee considered Philipse’s request and, on
December 13, 1776, reported that the manor lord had “ex-
erted himself in promoting an association . . . highly in-
jurious to the American Causel,| that his great estate . . .
has necessarily created a vast number of dependents on his
pleasure [,]” and, “that the Shameful Defection of the In-
habitants of that [Westchester] County is in a great
measure owing to his influence.” Philipse’s request was
then denied with the notation that his release “would put it
in the power of a professed Enemy of the American cause
not only further to disaffect the inhabitants of
Westchester County, but to put many of them in Arms
against the United States of North America.”

However, Philipse had been credited with power and
initiative far beyond his actual ability. He never attempted
to mobilize his “dependents” to fight for the king, being
perhaps the only loyalist landlord who failed to do so.
Nevertheless, he remained in confinement until December
23, 1776, when he was one of seven Tories released by
order of Governor Trumbull. In return for his freedom,
Philipse agreed not to “bear arms, nor excite, nor en-
courage others to bear Arms against this or any of the Un-
ited States of Americal,]. . . not [to] doorsayanythingin
prejudice of the interest or measures of the said United
States[, and to] . . . give no intelligence to the Enemies of
the said States of any of the Councils[, | Operations of War
of this [Connecticut] or any of the said states.” After six
months of captivity, Frederick Philipse returned home.2#



Frederick Philipse—Fugitive

While the manor lord was being held in Connecticut,
his Yonkers homestead did not suffer from inactivity. By
mid-September 1776, the British army had occupied New
York City and then had pursued George Washington’s
American forces north until late in October when
Washington was finally able to blunt the British thrust at
the battle of White Plains a few miles northeast of the
Manor Hall. Because it was located in the heart of the
Westchester County no-man’s land called the “Neutral
Ground,” Philipsburg was occupied at different times by
elements of both armies. During Frederick’s exile,
Elizabeth Philipse had continued to live at the Manor Hall
with her children, her sister-in-law, Mary Morris, and the
Philipse servants. The Philipse women lived under great
duress caused by the exigencies of military occupation.

Both sides commandeered materials and foraged
severely on the Philipse estate, forcing Elizabeth to com-
plain about such activities to both Generals Howe and
Washington. Each commander offered his courteous
apologies but explained that the resources of Philipsburg
were critical to the supply of his army and that neither
could afford to put a stop to the foraging. Notwithstand-
ing such depredations, the Philipse hospitality was extend-
ed to British officers who often took their meals at the
Manor Hall. One such guest, the German captain, Carl
Bauermeister, described the manor at that time as

a large mansion at present inhabited by the family
of Major Philipse, who has a large estate and an
annual income of six thousand York pounds and is
now held prisoner by the rebels. The manor house
stands on level ground close to the North River
and its courtyard is half surrounded by a bay. On
the left of it are two mills, which are driven by the
high and low tides. Above the bay is a church, and
on the right of the main building is a large garden
with all ornamentation in the Dutch manner.29

After returning home, Frederick Philipse attempted to
abide by the conditions of his parole and not to antagonize
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the combatants. He remained at the Manor Hall until the
spring of 1777. At that time, his single known aggressive
action of the war occurred. Philipse spotted a column of
American troops under Lieutenant Colonel Return
Jonathan Meigs of Connecticut moving south past the
Manor Hall along the Saw Mill River Road. He learned that
they were on their way to attack the British camp at
Morrisania near the southern end of Westchester County.
Philipse took the initiative and sent a note to the British at
Kingsbridge warning them of the impending raid.
However, his courier was captured by the Americans and
the letter intercepted. Philipse apparently panicked, loaded
his family on a river vessel, and, leaving the estate in the
care of his steward, John Williams, fled to the British in
New York. He never saw the Manor Hall again.

Why Philipse would choose to breach his neutrality at
that time, and because of such a comparatively unimpor-

tant event, is open to speculation. Several contemporary
observers suggested that the manor lord was a man

dominated by his wife, “an English woman of strong
Royalist sentiments,” and that Elizabeth and other family
members had influenced his decision to send the warning
note to the British and then to evacuate. More plausible,
however, was Philipse’s certain realization that any hope of
reconciliation with Great Britain had passed. His coun-
trymen were now enemies of the king and he understood
that the Americans were quite capable of violent reactions
against those who did not support the Revolution. Philipse
Manor’s location in the midst of a war zone made his con-
tinued residence at Yonkers particularly hazardous.
Philipse undoubtedly sensed the danger and perhaps used
the Meigs incident as an ‘excuse to flee.30

After entering the British lines, the Philipse family
moved into Frederick’s large house on the northeast corner
of Whitehall and Stone Streets and there they spent the
rest of the war. The family was quickly assimilated into the
wartime society of New York City. Shortly after arriving,
Frederick purchased commissions in the British army for
his five sons and the girls were often the talk of New York’s
winter balls as they had been in pre-war days. By that time,
Philipse was almost totally blind and found it very difficult
to move about. Nevertheless, he busied himself with
various social endeavors and in religious service as a
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vestryman of Trinity Episcopal Church.31

Although cut off from their estate, the Philipses ap-
parently did not want for material comforts. During this
period, Frederick Philipse derived his income from at least
three principal sources. Not residing on his estate for the
first time in his life, Philipse was an absentee landlord who
nonetheless fully expected his tenants to continue to pay
rent. Philipse’s expectations were at least partially fulfilled.
As a testimony to their extraordinary loyalty to him, as late
as December 1778, seventy-three tenants paid their annual
rents to Philipse in New York City. Many of the notes on
loans Philipse had made fell due while he was living in New
York, and most probably he had some success in collecting
them. In addition, because he had been “obliged to leave his
estate and property on account of his attachment to his ma-
jesty’s government,” Philipse was awarded a royal pension.
By 1782, this annual stipend had reached two hundred
pounds.32



Detail from “Part of the Philipsburg Estate Situated in the Town of Yonkers”
showing extent of gardens remaining in 1831. New York State Library.



End of an Era

Various means of repressing New York’s large loyalist
population had been implemented since the beginning of
the war. But in 1778, the state’s revolutionary leadership,
and especially John Jay, sought to break the backbone of
Tory power in New York. Jay proposed to deprive the Tory
leaders, the Philipses, Johnsons, De Lanceys, Coldens,
Skenes, and others, of an important traditional source of
power—their land. Hence, what became the Act of At-
tainder or Confiscation Act of October 22, 1779, not only
deprived fifty-nine Loyalists and British officials of all of
their property, but also condemned each one of them to
death if ever caught within the boundaries of New York
State. This single stroke had banished forever the pro-
British governing elite of colonial days and made some of
the choicest land in North America the property of New
York State and available to its people.33

The passage of the loyalist estates into the hands of
the revolutionary government signalled the end of Tory
power in New York. For the first time in a hundred years,
the Philipse family had no standing in Westchester Coun-
ty. The Philipse property was immediately utilized by its
new masters as collateral for the redemption of Con-
gressional Bills of Credit issued in 1780. On May 12, 1784,
the New York State Legislature authorized the sale of con-
fiscated and forfeited estates. Commissioners of
Forteitures for each senatorial district were appointed to
sell the properties “at public vendue to the highest bidder.”
Sales were to be advertised for eight weeks in the
newspapers and tracts were not to exceed 500 acres per
person. Those former tenants who had supported the
revolution were allowed to preempt (have first choice of)
their former leaseholds for an appraised price. Beginning in
1785, what had been the Manor of Philipsburg for almost a
century was sold in 311 separate conveyances at a total
benefit to the state of over 220,000 New York pounds. This
was over twice as much as the sum obtained from the next
largest estate.

Almost 200 former Philipse tenants immediately exer-
cised their preemption rights. Former tenants accounted

for about eighty percent of the new owners and their
average farm was 170 acres, a size about equal to the state-
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wide average farm. Initially, it appeared that the “levelling”
or “democratizing” effects of the breakup and sale of
Philipse Manor were great. Of the 287 new owners, only
eighteen were outsiders who could legitimately be called
speculators. These speculators purchased only 6 per cent of
the total acreage; however, the Manor Hall and Upper
Mills, the choicest individual parcels, were purchased by

Cornelius Low and Gerard Beekman, two of the out-
siders.34

Before the last acre of his manor had been sold,
Frederick Philipse III was dead. With the end of the war,
Philipse and his family left New York at the same time that
the British troops were evacuated. Such a decision must
have been extremely difficult for a family so much a part of
New York’s heritage and whose American roots were so
firmly entwined with its development. In just over a hun-
dred years, the Philipse family’s fortunes had turned full
circle. Frederick Philipse had been dispossessed of his
birthright, branded a traitor, and condemned to death in
the land of his birth. Philipse’s dejection upon leaving was
later recalled by a contemporary: “I saw Col. Philipse in
New York in 1783 just before he went to England. He was
glad to see me, but cried bitterly when he said, I must leave
my country. 35

[t was, therefore, a rather pathetic Frederick Philipse,
blind and broken in spirit, who emigrated, not to his
ancestral homeland but to Great Britain, a land as strange
to him as New Netherland must have been to Vrederic
Felypsen. Although he was compensated handsomely by
the crown for the loss of his American fortune, Philipse
never recovered from the shock of his exile. He settled at
Chester where he died in 1786.36
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Memorial tablet to Frederick Philipse 111 at Chester Cathedral, England. The
year of death on the tablet is inaccurate. The Parish register shows that he died
in 1786, not 1785. Sleepy Hollow Restorations.
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